3/19

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.

77,089

S'D I WHITE

FFB 22 1991

PLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Deputy Clerk

ROBERT McLEOD, ETC.,

Petitioner,

vs.

CONTINENTAL INSURANCE CO.,

Respondent.

On Discretionary Review of Certified Question from the Florida Second District Court of Appeals (Case No. 89-02586).

INITIAL BRIEF OF ROBERT McLEOD

HOGH N. SMITH, ESQUIRE DAVID S. NELSON, ESQUIRE SMITH & FULLER, P.A. P. O. Box 3288
Tampa, FL 33601
(813) 221-7171

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On or about June 17, 1985, MCLEOD visited the offices of Charles Jennings and Jennings & Associates (hereinafter collectively referred to as "Jennings") in Brandon, Florida. (ROA VII, 1141, paragraph 3). At all times material hereto, Jennings was an authorized agent of CONTINENTAL. (ROA VII, 1140-41, paragraph 2).

The purpose of MCLEOD's visit to Jennings was to obtain information and a premium quotation on personal insurance coverage for himself, his wife, his daughter, and his three automobiles and (ROA VII, 1141, paragraph 3). At the time of his visit to Jennings on June 17, 1985, MCLEOD was covered under a policy of insurance with Iowa National Mutual Insurance Company (hereinafter "Iowa National"). (ROA VII, 1141, paragraph 4). MCLEOD's Iowa National policy provided, in relevant part, for uninsured/underinsured (hereinafter "UM") insurance in the amount of \$50,000.00 per person with a \$100,000.00 maximum benefit per covered accident. Written in 1984, MCLEOD's Iowa National policy was set to expire at midnight on July 17, 1985. (ROA VII, 1141, paragraph 5).

¹Appellant ROBERT McLEOD, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Monzelle K. McLeod, deceased, and ROBERT McLEOD, personally, Plaintiffs and Appellants in the actions below, are collectively referred to as "McLEOD." CONTINENTAL INSURANCE COMPANY, Defendant and Appellee below, is referred to as "CONTINENTAL." References to the record on appeal are indicated by a parenthetical and prefix "ROA" with the volume and page number(s) indicated respectively. References to the "Stipulated Statement" (ROA VII, 1140-53), are similarly indicated but with an additional reference to the appropriate paragraph number.

During their meeting on June 17, 1985, MCLEOD described the Iowa National policy and further explained that it was set to expire in one month. (ROA V, 706-07). With that information, and with other information provided by MCLEOD, Jennings prepared a premium quotation which he then provided MCLEOD. (Id.) The premium quotation of \$1,779.00 was for insurance with CONTINENTAL, and MCLEOD was so advised. (ROA V, 707-08). Jennings assured MCLEOD that the policy with CONTINENTAL would be similar to that MCLEOD had with Iowa National. (Id.) MCLEOD left with the quotation but without a policy or other literature describing the coverages or exclusions. (ROA V, 709).

MCLEOD next visited Jennings on July 8, 1985. (ROA V, 709). Based upon the premium quotation of \$1,779.00, MCLEOD returned to Jennings for the purposes of applying for coverage with CONTINENTAL. (ROA V, 710). During the course of the visit on July 8, 1985, MCLEOD indicated a desire to increase his UM coverage to \$100,000.00 per accident. (ROA VII, 1141-42, paragraph 9).

It was during the same meeting that MCLEOD first expressed concern that delay in obtaining new insurance might leave him uninsured when the Iowa National policy expired on July 17, 1985. (ROA V, 714-15). Accordingly, MCLEOD expressed a desire to purchase insurance which would become effective July 10, 1985. Jennings assured MCLEOD that such a new policy with CONTINENTAL could be written (ROA V, 716), and a CONTINENTAL application form as filled out accordingly. (ROA IV, 485-86; ROA V, 713-714).

In the application, Jennings listed the Iowa National policy and documented its impending expiration date. Nonetheless, the portion of the form marked "credit for existing insurance" was left blank. (Id.). This was not surprising inasmuch as Jennings and MCLEOD had not even discussed a "credit for existing insurance" provision during the earlier June 17, 1985, meeting, or during the July 8, 1985, office visit. (ROA V, 710-13, 719).

Similarly left blank was the portion of the application marked "umbrella." This too was not surprising inasmuch as MCLEOD and Jennings had not discussed the creation of an umbrella or excess policy for the week of July 10-17, 1985. (Id.) In fact, Jennings believed he had no authority to write excess or umbrella policies for \$100,000.00. (ROA V, 753-54). What Jennings believed he could provide, and what Jennings believed he was providing, was duplicate primary coverage. (ROA IV, 494; ROA V, 726). Accordingly, by the end of their discussion on July 8, 1985, Jennings had "issued," and MCLEOD had agreed to pay for, an oral binder providing UM coverage in the amount of \$100,000.00 per accident effective July 10, 1985. (ROA V, 722-23).

On July 16, 1985, MCLEOD's wife, Monzelle Kay McLeod, was the victim of a tragic automobile accident on her way to work. Mrs. McLeod was struck broadside by a dump truck owned by CEN-COM ASSOCIATES, INC. (hereinafter "CEN-COM") and driven by ROBERT VERNON SIMMONS (hereinafter "SIMMONS"), a CEN-COM employee. SIMMONS was driving between 45 and 50 miles per hour through a red light at the time of the accident. No comparative negligence on

the part of Mrs. McLeod was ever suggested or shown. sent both vehicles into oncoming traffic before the dump truck came to rest on its side. SIMMONS was relatively unhurt, but Mrs. McLeod was taken to Tampa General Hospital where she died that same day from the injuries sustained. (ROA VII, 1142, paragraphs 12-15).

MCLEOD reported his wife's accident and resulting death to Jennings on the afternoon of July 16, 1985. (ROA V, 719-20). Subsequently, Jennings prepared an amended application for insurance. (ROA IV, 487-92). While the amended application identified MCLEOD's existing Iowa National policy, it, like the original application, made no reference to, or concession for, a credit for existing insurance. (ROA V, 719).

On July 16, 1985, Jennings also wrote to CONTINENTAL to describe the "unusual circumstances" surrounding MCLEOD's tragic loss and subsequent claim (ROA IV, 493-94). In pertinent part, the letter explained that:

> The insured is a cousin to an existing PCP client. He was a referral to our agency.

> When we first met insured, we planned to put all coverages in effect on 7/17/85 at 12:01 a.m. when present coverage expired.

> Then, at that time, he advised he would prefer we put all coverages in effect on 7/10/85, one week earlier, as he was afraid he might have some lapse of coverage, and he just did not want to take any chances. Since he was insistent on this, and we sort of felt he had had some bad experience in the past because of his insistence, we complied with his request and made all coverage effective 7/10/85.

> > 4

The bottom line is that there has been a very serious accident, and it appears that we will have some duplicate coverage.

(ROA V, 493-94). The letter continued to explain the facts and circumstances surrounding Mrs. McLeod's death. (Id.) Jennings sent the letter, together with the amended application, original application, a copy of the loss report, a photo of MCLEOD's home (MCLEOD had applied for personal comprehensive insurance covering three automobiles as well as his house), a copy of the declaration of automobile coverage being replaced (MCLEOD's Iowa National policy), a copy of MCLEOD's homeowner's policy being replaced, and the original agency worksheet used in preparing the application. (ROA V, 729).

As of July 16, 1985, Jennings believed that MCLEOD had contracted for, and CONTINENTAL was obligated to provide, duplicate coverage. (ROA V, 725-26). While aware of the existence of the credit for existing insurance provision in the underwriting rules, Jennings did not deem it applicable to MCLEOD's situation. (ROA V, 732-33). Not surprisingly, then, Jennings still had not informed MCLEOD of the potential applicability of a credit for existing insurance provision to his coverage with CONTINENTAL. (ROA V, 719).

CONTINENTAL's underwriting file reflects that Jennings' letter and MCLEOD's applications were received in Jacksonville on or about July 19, 1985. On or about the same day, Jennings had a telephone conversation with Eloise Slaughter, a supervisor in CONTINENTAL's Jacksonville office. (ROA V, 730-31). During the course of that

conversation, Ms. Slaughter informed Jennings of underwriting guidelines which provide for a credit for existing insurance provision on a policy of the type MCLEOD purchased. (ROA V, 732). The underwriting file reflects that Jennings first became angry at the suggestion that CONTINENTAL would seek to interject such an exclusionary provision into MCLEOD's policy. (ROA IV 556). Based upon his experience and understanding of the underwriting rules, Jennings simply did not believe the provision was applicable. (ROA V, 732-33). Hence, Jennings still did not contact MCLEOD to tell him that his CONTINENTAL coverage may be subject to a limitation under a credit for pre-existing insurance provision. (ROA V, 734).

After speaking with Ms. Slaughter, Jennings spoke with Jerry Freeland, Vice President of Underwriting at CONTINENTAL's Jacksonville office. Mr. Freeland advised Jennings that, because of the Iowa National UM policy, CONTINENTAL's coverage would be excess pursuant to the credit for existing insurance provision contained in the written policy booklet and on the declaration page CONTINENTAL would soon send to MCLEOD. (ROA IV, 567). That provision provides:

"We will pay the amount of your loss that is left after you have been paid the full amount available under other policies."

(<u>Id</u>.). Mr. Freeland's subsequent handwritten note to Ms. Slaughter, however, reflects that if all was as indicated on the insurance applications, "then due to the circumstances, we should issue policy." (<u>Id</u>.)

Jennings continued to disagree as to the applicability of the credit for existing insurance provision even after the telephone conversations with Ms. Slaughter and Mr. Freeland. (ROA V, 732-33). By July 26, 1985, however, Jennings wrote Ms. Slaughter to express humble agreement with CONTINENTAL's position that the policy as written should have been denominated excess for the week of July 10-17, 1985, and that Jennings should have so informed MCLEOD at the time of application. (ROA IV, 496). Even at this point, though, Jennings never informed MCLEOD that the CONTINENTAL policy would be subject to a credit for existing insurance clause or any other limitation. (ROA V, 749-50).²

On August 12, 1985--a full 27 days after his wife's death, and a full 35 days after Jennings assured MCLEOD he would have the duplicate coverage--MCLEOD was sent a copy of the policy booklet. (ROA VII, 1145, paragraph 25). Included in the booklet was a declaration sheet describing the various amendments to the general policy provisions. (ROA IV, 497). Also included were specific amendments, including one designed to conform the policy provisions to Florida law. The coverage data page indicated that the policy would become effective at 12:01 a.m. on July 10, 1985. As agreed, it further provided primary liability coverage in the amount of \$100,000.00 and UM coverage in the amount of \$100,000.00 for each accident. Conspicuously absent on the coverage data page was any

2

CONTINENTAL's records reflect that on July 23 and 24, 1984, UAC and Jennings consciously agreed <u>not</u> to contact MCLEOD regarding the credit for existing insurance provision (ROA IV, 556).

indication that any CONTINENTAL coverage would be deemed excess or umbrella in nature. (\underline{Id} .).

Attached to the coverage data sheet was a supplemental listing of the various amendments allegedly modifying the general policy provisions. Listed was the "credit for existing insurance amendment," which was attached. (Id.). The "credit for existing insurance amendment" listed the Iowa National policies MCLEOD had disclosed to Jennings and Jennings had then disclosed to CONTINENTAL. It was upon receipt of the policy booklet that MCLEOD could have been first apprised of the credit for existing insurance "amendment." (ROA VII, 1145, paragraph 26).

Prior to receiving the policy booklet from CONTINENTAL, McLeod engaged the services of Attorney Larry Gramovot to pursue a wrongful death action against CEN-COM and SIMMONS, the tortfeasors. (ROA VII, 1145, paragraph 27). At the time of the accident, CEN-COM carried \$250,000.00 in liability insurance with The Insurance Company of North America (hereinafter "INA"). (ROA VII, 1145, paragraph 28). Additionally, CEN-COM carried an umbrella policy of insurance with Iowa National for \$1 million per accident (ROA VII, 1145, paragraph 29). In due course, Mr. Gramovot filed claims for benefits with both INA and Iowa National under CEN-COM's policies. (ROA VII, 1145, paragraph 30). When INA and Iowa National balked at payment, Mr. Gramovot filed a wrongful death action against CEN-COM and SIMMONS on September 27, 1985. (ROA VII, 1145, paragraph 32). At or about the same time, Mr. Gramovot filed claims for

benefits with Iowa National under MCLEOD's own policy. (ROA VII, 1145, paragraph 31).

Unfortunately, on October 11, 1985, Iowa National was declared insolvent pursuant to Chapter 631, Fla. Statutes (1985). (ROA VII, 1146, paragraph 33). Under the provisions of Chapter 631, the Florida Insurance Guaranty Association (hereinafter "FIGA") was appointed ancillary receiver for Iowa National and assumed the responsibilities of Iowa National under CEN-COM's \$1 million umbrella policy and under MCLEOD's own \$200,000.00 UM policy. (ROA VII, 1146, paragraphs 34-36). The effect of FIGA's involvement was to reduce CEN-COM's umbrella policy to \$300,000.00. See, \$631.57, Fla. Stat. The involvement of FIGA did not affect the \$200,000.00 (\$50,000.00 coverage on four automobiles was "stacked") available under MCLEOD's own UM policy.

On October 29, 1985, CONTINENTAL's claim-adjusting subsidiary, Underwriter's Adjusting Company (hereinafter "UAC"), wrote to Mr. Gramovot to advise that CONTINENTAL's coverage would be excess over the coverage provided by MCLEOD's UM policy with Iowa National. (ROA IV, 576-78). Nonetheless, on November 20, 1985, Mr. Gramovot wrote to UAC to advise that in light of Iowa National's insolvency, MCLEOD would be looking to CONTINENTAL for UM benefits totalling \$300,000.00 (\$100,000.00 coverage on three automobiles was "stacked"). (ROA IV, 579). In the letter, Mr. Gramovot demanded arbitration of MCLEOD's UM claim pursuant to the policy provisions of the written insurance policy. (Id.).

Because CONTINENTAL would not arbitrate (ROA VI, 863) (CONTINENTAL does not arbitrate coverage issues), Mr. Gramovot filed a motion for leave to amend MCLEOD's complaint to add CONTINENTAL as a defendant. (ROA VII, 1147, paragraph 41). That motion was granted, and on March 12, 1986, MCLEOD's first amended complaint was filed. (ROA VII, 1147, paragraph 42).

On March 31, 1986, UAC wrote Mr. Gramovot to indicate that CONTINENTAL's coverage would be excess over MCLEOD's UM policy with Iowa National by virtue of the "credit for existing insurance" provision included in the written insurance policy forwarded to MCLEOD after his wife's death. (ROA VII, 1147, paragraph 43). However, on April 1, 1986, CONTINENTAL's counsel, Bradley Powers, wrote Mr. Gramovot to indicate that:

Continental Insurance Company is willing to pay its <u>pro rata</u> share with the Iowa National coverage within its policy limits, should a jury return a verdict in excess of the liability coverage carried by the tortfeasor.

(ROA IV, 603-04). On the same day, Mr. Powers wrote Camille Lyle of UAC to indicate that:

It is my understanding that the tortfeasor has a \$250,000.00 policy with AETNA [sic] and excess coverage with Iowa National of \$1 As FIGA is now handling Iowa National's policy, the excess policy reduced to \$300,000.00. As a result, the \$550,000.00 coverage tortfeasor has in In addition to the the [sic] available. 100/300 UM coverage on three cars Mr. McLeod carried with Continental, he also carried UM coverage with Iowa National in the amount of 50/100 UM coverage on four cars. As a result, it appears that we would prorate any verdict in excess of the tortfeasor's policy limits with the \$200,000.00 UM coverage provided by Iowa National. It is my opinion that the course of action outlined above is as favorable as proceeding with arbitration. Please contact me immediately if you do not agree. (ROA VII, 1147-48, paragraph 45) (emphasis added).

The "immediate" response came in an April 24, 1986, letter from Camille Lyle of UAC to Mr. Powers. That letter informed Mr. Powers that, pursuant to the credit for existing insurance provision contained in the written policy of insurance forwarded to MCLEOD on August 12, 1985, CONTINENTAL would be excess over the coverage provided by FIGA under MCLEOD's UM policy with Iowa National. (ROA VII, 1147-49, paragraphs 46 and 48). The letter went on to state:

We do not know exactly what FIGA will pay at maximum under their policies. You advised you were under the impression that they would pay a total of \$300,000.00 under the PIP and UM coverages afforded to Mr. McLeod and \$300,00.00 total on the excess policy of the tortfeasor. We are of the understanding that FIGA intended to pay only \$300,000.00 total under all policies for this one occurrence (Id.) (emphasis in original).

Subsequent to April 1, 1986, MCLEOD filed an independent action against FIGA to enforce the arbitration provisions under MCLEOD's UM policy with Iowa National. (ROA VII, 1149, paragraph 50). In or about July, 1986, MCLEOD's action against SIMMONS, CENCOM and CONTINENTAL was consolidated with the independent action against FIGA and trial in the consolidated action was scheduled to begin on August 4, 1986. (ROA VII, 1149, paragraph 51).

With trial approaching, Mr. Powers drafted a detailed analysis letter of the accident and the unique circumstances surrounding MCLEOD's claim. (ROA IV, 605-610). Mr. Powers' July 14, 1986,

letter described how MCLEOD was partially disabled as the result of advanced arthritis and how Mrs. McLeod had been the family's sole means of support. (Id.). The letter further described how Mrs. McLeod donated 25 percent of her income to her church where she was active in various activities. (Id.). The letter concluded with Mr. Powers evaluating MCLEOD's claim at \$1.15 million—an amount described as "conservative" under the circumstances. (Id.).

It was also during July, 1986, that Mr. Gramovot communicated to counsel for <u>all</u> parties, including CONTINENTAL, an offer to settle MCLEOD's claims for a total of \$850,000.00. (ROA VII, 1149, paragraph 52). INA, as the primary insurer for CEN-COM, agreed to contribute its \$250,000.00 policy limits to the settlement of MCLEOD's claims. (ROA VII, 1149, paragraph 53). FIGA agreed to contribute its \$300,000.00 policy limits under CEN-COM's excess policy with Iowa National. (ROA VII, 1149, paragraph 54). In a show of generosity, CEN-COM's owner even agreed to contribute \$75,000.00 to the settlement pool. (ROA VII, 1150, paragraph 55).

In spite of the willingness of the other carriers to settle, CONTINENTAL refused to contribute anything to the settlement of MCLEOD's claims until FIGA paid \$200,000.00 under MCLEOD'S UM policy with Iowa National. (ROA VII, 1150, paragraph 56). CONTINENTAL's refusal to contribute was predicated on its concern that any payment made to MCLEOD before FIGA had paid \$200,000.00 under MCLEOD's UM policy with Iowa National would be considered "voluntary" and would, therefore, extinguish CONTINENTAL's right to subrogation from CEN-COM. (ROA VI, 851). As CONTINENTAL would

later discover, however, §631.54(3) precluded subrogation against CEN-COM, since CEN-COM's insurer became insolvent. Unfortunately, neither Mr. Powers nor CONTINENTAL's own legal department³ ever advised CONTINENTAL that, pursuant to the statute, no subrogation rights existed. (ROA VII, 1150, paragraph 58).

When the settlement discussions broke down due to CONTINENTAL's recalcitrance, MCLEOD moved for leave to file a second amended complaint to add allegations against CONTINENTAL for failing to negotiate and settle his claims in good faith as required by §624.155(1)(b)1. (ROA VII, 1150, paragraph 60). On August 29, 1986, the motion was granted, and MCLEOD's second amended complaint was accepted as filed. (ROA I, 1-7).

On or about October 6, 1986, CONTINENTAL filed a motion to dismiss the second amended complaint alleging that MCLEOD had failed to set forth the proper elements for recovery under \$624.155 (ROA VII, 1150, paragraph 63). CONTINENTAL's motion to dismiss was heard on November 14, 1986. Instead of dismissing the complaint, the trial court gave MCLEOD twenty (20) days to amend to include specific reference to ultimate facts supporting the claims that CONTINENTAL failed to negotiate and settle MCLEOD's claims in good faith. (ROA VII, 1151, paragraph 64). In response to the trial court's mandate, MCLEOD filed an amended Count III to the second amended complaint on November 21, 1986. (ROA I, 8-10). A

3

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