047

FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 77,089

LEST SUPERIORE COURT.

Deputy Clerk

ROBERT MCLEOD, ETC.,

Petitioner,

vs.

CONTINENTAL INSURANCE CO.,

Respondent.

On Discretionary Review of Certified Question from the Florida Second District Court of Appeals (Case No. 89-02586)

### ANSWER BRIEF OF CONTINENTAL INSURANCE COMPANY

MICHAEL M. BELL, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 0458340 HANNAH, MARSEE, BEIK & VOGHT, P.A. P. O. Box 536487 Orlando, Florida 32853-6487 (407)849-1122

Attorneys for Continental Insurance Company

##

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent, Continental Insurance Company (hereinafter "Continental") generally agrees with the Statement of the Case and Facts contained in Petitioner Robert McLeod's (hereinafter "McLeod") Initial Brief.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Second District Court of Appeal correctly ruled that the excess judgment was not the appropriate measure of damages in this first party "bad faith" action. The Court recognized the fundamental difference between first party and third party "bad This fundamental difference makes the "excess faith" cases. judgment", an appropriate measure of damage in a third party situation, inappropriate in a first party situation. The Court held that damages in a first party situation are limited to those "proximately caused" by the insurer's act(s) of bad faith. The Court's reasoning is thus in accord with well established principles of law governing the determination of damages. great majority of courts to address the question before this Court support the opinion of the Second District Court of Appeal, which adopted Continental's position.

Further, if the excess judgment is adopted as the proper measure of damages in a first party setting as advanced by McLeod, many illogical results would occur. Insureds who did not obtain an excess judgment would be estopped from pursuing bad faith claims as their damages would be fixed at zero.

It is the position of Continental that its position, which utilizes traditional legal principles should be adopted to insure that insureds can pursue bad faith claims and that insurer's pay only for the damage or injury for which they are responsible.

#### ARGUMENT

FIRST PARTY BAD FAITH DAMAGES SHOULD BE LIMITED TO THOSE DAMAGES PROXIMATELY CAUSED BY THE INSURER'S ACTS OF BAD FAITH AND SHOULD NOT INCLUDE THE EXCESS JUDGMENT.

The Second District Court of Appeal certified the following question to this Court as one of great public importance:

WHAT IS THE APPROPRIATE MEASURE OF DAMAGES IN A FIRST-PARTY ACTION FOR BAD FAITH FAILURE TO SETTLE AN UNINSURED MOTORIST INSURANCE CLAIM?

It is the position of Continental that first party bad faith damages should be limited to those damages proximately caused by the insurer's act(s) of bad faith. The Second District Court of Appeal adopted Continental's position in this case. The Court rejected McLeod's argument that first party bad faith damages are fixed in the amount of the excess judgment.

In the instant case, Monzelle Kay McLeod was killed as a result of an automobile accident that occurred on July 16, 1985. (ROA VII, 1142, ¶15). Prior to trial, the tortfeasor's insurance carriers settled McLeod's claim against the tortfeasor by payment of \$550,000.00. (ROA VII, 1149, ¶53, 54). In addition, McLeod's primary U.M. Insurer settled McLeod's claim against it by paying \$179,900.00 of the \$200,000.00 policy limits. (ROA VII, 1152, ¶72).

Continental, the secondary U.M. Insurer, failed to reach a settlement with McLeod prior to the trial of McLeod's wrongful death action.

McLeod proceeded to trial against Continental Insurance Company and a verdict was returned in the amount of \$1,250,000.00 (ROA VII, 1153, ¶77). Following the verdict, Continental tendered \$300,000.00 to McLeod, the limits of U.M. coverage under McLeod's policy with Continental.

Having received \$1,030,000.00 McLeod continued the action alleging "bad faith" on the part of Continental in not tendering its policy limits to McLeod prior to the underlying trial.

The "bad faith" trial took place in August, 1989 before the Honorable Daniel E. Gallagher in Hillsborough County. By Motion for Directed Verdict, and at the charge conference, McLeod's attorneys argued that his damages were fixed at \$200,000.00, the shortfall between all available coverage and the jury's verdict in (ROA VII, 986-991). the underlying action. Continental's attorney's insisted that the jury determine the amount of damages, if any, sustained by the Plaintiff which were proximately caused by "bad faith" on the part of Continental. (ROA VII, 986-991). trial court agreed with the position of Continental and left the matter of determining McLeod's damages to the jury should they find "bad faith" on the part of Continental. The jury returned a verdict in favor of McLeod finding "bad faith" on the part of Continental and awarded McLeod \$100,000.00 in damages. (ROA III, 436, 437).

In his appeal to the Second District, McLeod argued that the trial court erred in refusing to grant his Motion for Directed Verdict or in the alternative in refusing to instruct the jury that

McLeod's damages were fixed at \$200,000.00 should the jury find "bad faith" on the part of Continental. McLeod further argued that he need not establish that his bad faith damages were proximately caused by the acts of Continental. The Second District rejected McLeod's arguments and held the excess judgment was not an appropriate measure of his damages. The Second District held that first party bad faith damages included, but were not limited to, interest on unpaid benefits, attorneys fees, and costs of pursuing the action.

An analysis of the legal issue before this Court begins with review of <u>Fla. Stat.</u> §624.155. This statute was enacted to provide insureds with the right to sue their insurer's for failing to settle an insured's claim in good faith. This statute provides:

- (1) Any person may bring a Civil Action against an insurer when such person is damaged:
  - (a) By a violation of any of the following provisions by the insurer:
    - 1. §626.9541(1)(i)(o), or (x);
    - 2. §626.9551;
    - 3. §626.9705;
    - 4. §626.9706;
    - 5. §626.9707; or
    - 6. §626.7282.
  - (b) By commission of any of the following acts by the insurer:
    - 1. Not attempting in good faith to settle claims under all the when, circumstances, it could and should have done so, had it acted fairly and honestly toward its insured with and due regard for his interests;

- Making claims payments to insureds or beneficiaries not accompanied by a statement setting forth the coverage under which payments are being made; or
- 3. Except as to liability coverages, failing promptly settle claim, when the obligations to settle has become reasonably clear, under portion of the insurance policy coverage order to influence settlements under other portions of the insurance policy coverage.

§624.155(1)(a) and (b), Fla. Stat. (1982) (emphasis added).

The underscored language evidences the intent of the legislature that an insured in a first party action establish: unlawful conduct on behalf of the insurer, causation and damages. This intent is in accord with the established principle that damages are to compensate the injured party for the natural, proximate, probable and direct consequences of the tortfeasors act. Douglas Fertilizer and Chemicals, Inc. v. McClung Landscaping, Inc., 459 So.2d 335 (Fla. 5th DCA, 1984).

The legislature's intent was also in accord with the existing common law. At common law, a Plaintiff in a bad faith action had to prove the element of causation. "To recover against the insurer, a Florida insured must produce evidence of the insurer's "bad faith" and the damages sustained." Cheek v. Agricultural Insurance Company of Watertown, New York, 432 F.2d 1267, 1269 (5th Circ. 1970) (emphasis added).

The intent of the legislature enacting Fla. Stat. §624.155, was in accord with established common law principles which required a claimant to prove his damages were caused by the Defendant's The jury's verdict in the underlying wrongful death action was an assessment of the damages sustained by the estate of Mrs. McLeod. The conduct of Continental, was not an issue in that trial, and the verdict rendered was not based on any conduct on the part of Continental. It would be unfair to fix the damages of McLeod or any "bad faith" claimant, to the amount the verdict or arbitration award exceeds available insurance coverage. result is logical or fair. If in the underlying wrongful death action, the jury had rendered a verdict less than all available insurance coverage, then following McLeod's argument to its illogical conclusion, he could not maintain an action for bad faith against Continental because his damages would be fixed in a negative amount. This unfair and illogical result that was not intended by the legislature. The only logical and fair solution is to permit the trier of fact to establish what damages have been sustained by the insured which were caused by the acts of bad faith on the part of his insurer. If this position is adopted by the court, then all first party "bad faith" claimants will have a right to proceed against their insurance carriers despite their relative success or failure in the underlying trial or arbitration. result obtained in the underlying trial by verdict, or in the underlying arbitration by award, would be evidence of bad faith or lack of bad faith, and nothing more.

The only reported case to have adopted the position advanced by McLeod in this appeal is the case of <u>Jones v. Continental</u><sup>1</sup>, 670 F. Supp. 937 (S.D. Fla. 1987).

In <u>Jones v. Continental</u>, the Plaintiff filed suit against Continental on a first party "bad faith" claim. The jury returned a verdict finding "bad faith" on the part of Continental, but found that the Plaintiff had not been damaged by Continental's acts of "bad faith". Despite the jury's verdict, the District Court granted Plaintiff's Motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, and entered judgment in favor of Mr. and Mrs. Jones in the amount of \$366,750.00, the shortfall between available insurance coverage and the underlying arbitration award.

The court in <u>Jones</u> relied upon the legislative history to <u>Fla. Stat.</u> §624.155 which provides:

... [§624.155] requires insurer's to deal in good faith to settle claims. Current case law requires the standard in liability claims, but not in uninsured coverage; the sanction is that the company is subject to a judgment in excess of policy limits. This section would apply to all insurance policies.

McLeod also claims support from three trial Court rulings:

Fidelity & Casualty Ins. Co. of New York v. Taylor, No. 84-1884 (11th Fla. Cir. Ct., November 4, 1988); Wahl v. Insurance Co. of North American, No. CL-87-1187-CA-17 (19th Fla. Cir. Ct., June 6, 1989); Prudential Property & Casualty Insurance Co. v. Cook, No. CA89-2345 (6th Fla. Cir. Ct.)

Further, McLeod claims support from two additional cases, however an examination of these cases reveals that they involve third party "bad faith" claims rather than first party "bad faith" claims. See: <u>Hollar v. International Bankers Ins. Co.</u>, 15 FLW D2888 (Fla. 3d DCA, November 27, 1990); and <u>Helmbolt v. LeMars Mutual Insurance Co., Inc.</u>, 404 N.W. 2d 55 (S.D. 1987).

Based on the aforementioned legislative history, the court in <u>Jones</u> held that the purpose of §624.155 was to provide the same remedy in both first party and third party "bad faith" claims, i.e., the excess of the award over available coverage.

Following the ruling of the District Court in <u>Jones</u>, the legislature amended <u>Fla</u>. <u>Stat</u>. §624.155 (1990). Amended subsection (7) provides:

The civil remedy specified in this section does not preempt any other remedy or cause of action provided for pursuant to any other statute or pursuant to the common law of this state. Any person may obtain a judgment under either the common law remedy of bad faith or this statutory remedy but shall not be entitled to a judgment under both remedies. This section shall not be construed to create a common law cause of action. The damages recoverable pursuant to this section shall include those damages which are a reasonably foreseeable result of the specified violation of this section by the insurer and may include an award or judgment in an amount that exceeds (Emphasis added) the policy limits.

The amendment appears to reiterate the legislature's intent that damages in a first party bad faith setting are limited to those caused by the insurer's act, instead of those caused by the tortfeasor as awarded by the Court in <u>Jones</u>.

In this case, the Second District Court of Appeal rejected the <u>Jones</u> decision, holding that the District Court in <u>Jones</u> had erroneously interpreted the legislative history of <u>Fla. Stat.</u> §624.155. The Second District noted:

We note that in <u>Jones v. Continental Insurance</u> <u>Co.</u>, 716 F. Supp. 1456 (S.D. Fla. 1989), the federal district court came to the opposite

conclusion and held that Florida law requires applying the third-party bad faith measure of damages to first-party bad faith actions. In doing so, the district court relied in part upon the statute's legislative history, which states:

[Section 624.155] requires insurer's to deal in good faith to settle claims. Current case requires this standard in motorist claims, but not in uninsured coverage; the sanction is that the company is subject to a judgment in excess of policy This section would apply to all limits. insurance policies.

<u>Jones</u>, 716 F. Supp. at 1460 (quoting Staff Report, 1982 Insurance Code Sunset Revision (HB 4F; as amended HB 10G) (June 3, 1982)). This history does not conflict with our interpretation of the statute.

Rather, the history indicates that Section 624.155 extends the requirement of dealing in good faith, which was already required of liability insurer's, all to insurance policies. In saying "the sanction is that the company is subject to a judgment in excess of policy limits," it is merely stating that an uninsured motorist insurer may be liable in excess of its policy limits in cases where the insured's underlying tort claim exhausts his policy limits and the insurer become liable for additional consequential damages. ( $\underline{McLeod}$  at pp. 10-11).

In rejecting <u>Jones</u>, the <u>Second District</u> found that the excess judgment was not the appropriate measure of damages to an insured as it represents a loss the insurer did not cause. The <u>Second District</u> stated:

We find nothing in this statute which evidences an intent on the part of the legislature to require an insurer to pay for a "loss" it did not cause. (McLeod at p. 10).

The Second District found that the appropriate measure of damages in a first party case:

... include, but are not limited to, interest on the unpaid benefits, attorney fees, and costs of pursuing the action.

(McLeod at p. 9).

Other Courts in this state have reached the same conclusion as the Second District in <a href="McLeod">McLeod</a> and have specifically rejected the District Court's rationale in Jones.

In <u>Cocuzzi v. Allstate Insurance Company</u>, (M.D. Fla. No. 89-613-CIU-ORL, June 5 & June 26, 1990) the Court specifically rejected Jones and followed traditional principles of law governing damages. The Court stated:

This Court declines to apply Jones to the Section 624.155 permits an instant case. insured to recover damages that proximately caused by the wrongful conduct of the insured. In a first party bad faith claim, the amount of the excess judgment is not, as a matter of law, the measure of damages to be awarded to the insured. excess judgment does not necessarily represent the measure of damages proximately caused by the conduct of the insurer. This conclusion is in accord with the general principles of insurance and tort law. (Emphasis added). ( $\underline{\text{Cocuzzi}}$  at p. 7-8).

Further support for Continental's position is found in <u>Adams</u>

<u>v. Fidelity and Casualty Company</u>, (S.D. Fla. No. 88-0629, February

12, 1990). In <u>Adams</u>, the District Court specifically rejected the rationale of Jones. The Court noted:

"Damages incurred in suits involving uninsured motorist claims are entirely different. Unlike third-party suit, <u>actual</u> damages in suits involving uninsured motorist claims are

limited to the extra costs of going to trial and the interest on money that should have initially been paid. Hence, because the first-party insured is not exposed to excess liability, the rationale for allowing recovery in excess of policy limits in third-party suits is inapplicable to suits involving uninsured motorist claims." (Adams at p. 8). (Emphasis added by the Court).

The issue that faces the court in the instant case is a novel and important issue. Few other courts in this nation have addressed the measure of damages recoverable in a first party "bad faith" action. However, those courts that have addressed this issue have ruled that the excess judgment is not an element of damage and that the insured's damages must be proximately caused by the acts of "bad faith" alleged.

In <u>Wesse vs. Nationwide Insurance Company</u>, 879 F. 2d 115, (4th Cir. 1989) the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals noted:

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